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SMITH PATTEN
DOW W. PATTEN, ESQ. (SBN: 135931)
50 California St. Suite 1500
San Francisco, CA 94111
Telephone: (415) 402-0084
Facsimile: (415) 520-0104
Attorney for Plaintiff
THEODORE MORT

6

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

7

EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

8
9
10

THEODORE W. MORT, an individual,

11

Plaintiff,

12
13

v.

14
15
16

MEGAN J. BRENNAN, POSTMASTER
GENERAL UNITED STATES POSTAL
SERVICE, and DOES 1-10, inclusive,

17
18

Defendants.

19
20

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No.:
(1) RETALIATION IN VIOLATION OF
THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1964 AS
AMENDED
(2) DISABILITY DISCRIMINATION
FOR PERCEIVED DISABILITY
42 U.S.C. § 12112(a); 42 U.S.C. § 12102(1)
(3) VIOLATION OF THE
REHABILITATION ACT
29 U.S.C. §701 et. seq.
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

21
22

Comes now THEODORE MORT, and alleges against all Defendants as follows:
INTRODUCTION

23
24
25
26
27
28

1.

This lawsuit seeks monetary damages, injunctive, and equitable relief for

Defendant’s willful pattern of retaliatory and discriminatory conduct that was intentionally used
to unlawfully terminate Plaintiff Theodore Mort's (hereinafter “Plaintiff” or “MORT”)
employment with the United States Postal Service.
1
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1

2.

After 14 years in law enforcement, the United States Postal Service (hereinafter the

2

“service” “Defendant”, or “USPS”, retaliated against MORT because he made complaints about

3

and opposed discrimination and engaged in other protected activity, protected under Section 704

4

of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended.

5
6
7
8
9

3.

USPS also discriminated against MORT because it perceived him to be disabled in

violation of the Americans With Disabilities Act.
4.

USPS also violated the Rehabilitation Act by misusing the Fitness-for-duty examination

process against MORT, without a legitimate basis therefore.
JURISDICTION

10
11
12
13
14
15

5.

MORT has met all statutory requirements and jurisdictional prerequisites for his Title VII

civil rights claims.
6.

Jurisdiction is appropriate in the Eastern District of California pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §

1331.

16

7.

17

§1343, this being an action brought under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended

18

and the Civil Rights Act of 1991.

19
20
21
22

This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331 and

PARTIES
8.

Plaintiff MORT is a resident of Fresno, California.

9.

Defendant USPS is a federal agency employer.
FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

23
24

10.

At the time of events giving rise to this complaint, Plaintiff worked as a Postal Inspector,

25

ISLE-13, at the Agency's facility in Fresno, California.

26
27
28
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1

11.

After dedicating 14 years of his life to law enforcement, Complainant Theodore Mort was

2

removed from service as a United States Postals Inspector because he was perceived to have a

3

mental disability and in retaliation for engaging in a protected activity.

4

12.

5
6
7
8
9

Despite his treating doctor and his employer's doctors stating he was fit to return to duty,

MORT's supervisors continued to keep him out of work on administrative leave for over one
year.
13.

MORT's supervisors at USPS had no problems with his work performance prior to MORT

reporting what he believed to be criminal actions of his supervisor and team leader, Mack

10

Gadsden (“Gadsden”).

11

14.

12
13
14
15

On January 17, 2011, MORT completed a standard periodic Medical Exam as required to

retain his position as a Postal Inspector/Law Enforcement Officer for the Service and was
subsequently cleared fit for continued duty.
15.

On the last day of August 2011, MORT had a meeting with his new team lead, Gadsden.

16

At the time, MORT was the only postal inspector assigned to the Fresno area, which ordinarily

17

had at three (3) postal inspectors allocated due to the large urban population and large volume of

18

United States mail crimes.

19
20
21
22

16.

Gadsden met with MORT on August 31, 2011 for approximately one and half to two and a

half hours.
17.

During the meeting, Gadsden related in a militaristic fashion how the team is going to

23

function.

MORT tried to inform Gadsden during the meeting that Fresno was seriously

24

understaffed, and that MORT needed assistance because he was conducting the work of three

25

inspectors, and that he was having serious problems with the workload.

26
27
28
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1

18.

Gadsden responded, “ I realize you're overworked, and I will get you help. We'll get more

2

people down here. And don't -- this weekend is a long Labor Day weekend, don't worry about

3

any duty calls. Stay away from work issues, just enjoy your life,” or words to that effect.

4
5
6
7
8

THE UNPRECEDENTED EARLY MORNING TRESPASSES BY GADSDEN
19.

In the very early morning and pre dawn hours of Sunday September 4, 2011, MORT's

team leader, Mack Gadsden (“Gadsden”) accompanied by Inspector Jennifer Vincent-Hiland in
an unprecedented move outside of any police or practice, visited MORT's home, and trespassed

9

upon his private property by entering his secured privacy fenced yard to knock and look into the

10

residences back doors and bedroom windows in the pre-dawn hours, not once but twice over the

11

course of several hours in Gadsden's search of MORT.

12
13
14
15

20.

MORT was not present on the premises at the time, having taken pre-approved time off –

ordered by Gadsden – and only learned of the trespass when he returned from his pre-approved
time off.

16

21.

17

and returned the call. When he spoke on the phone with MORT, angrily questioned MORT

18

“why the fuck didn't you respond to my call?” and ordered MORT to come to Stockton,

19
20
21
22

When MORT returned from his pre-approved time off, he had a voicemail from Gadsden

California to meet with Gadsden.
22.

MORT did as he was ordered, travelled from Fresno to Stockton to meet with Gadsden,

and when MORT arrived at the very small roomed office, MORT closed the door after entering

23

as Gadsden ordered. For the next hour plus, Gadsden in a threatening disciplinary manner,

24

repeatedly raised his voice, telling MORT to sit down after MORT stated he felt sick asking to

25

be excused on sick leave after feeling threatened by Gadsden's behavior. MORT observed

26

Gadsden to be armed with a holstered semi-automatic handgun.

27
28
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1

23.

During the meeting, Gadsden did not apologize for his behavior in trespassing on MORT's

2

secured back yard privacy fenced home,violating MORT's privacy, and disturbing the peace,

3

and instead berated MORT.

4

24.

5
6
7
8
9

On September 6, 2011, MORT utilized five (5) days of sick leave for stress approved by

management after providing a doctor's clearance note, while off duty on sick leave. This leave
was deemed not work related by the Department of Labor OWCP in collaboration with USPS
management. This leave was subsequently approved as Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA)
leave. MORT had no prior allegations of leave abuse or misconduct.

10

25.

11

unlawful conduct with the Office of Inspector General (“OIG”).

12
13
14
15

26.

Also on September 6, 2011, MORT filed an on-line complaint concerning Gadsden's

On Friday September 16, 2011, MORT reported as ordered for a meeting in Richmond,

California with Executive Adam Behnen prior to returning to his job duties in Fresno,
California. After the meeting Behnen ordered MORT not to return to his job duties pending

16

further in-depth medical information from MORT's doctor via the Service's Fitness for Duty

17

Examination (“FFDE”) forms in conjunction with exam result documents.

18

27.

19
20
21
22

Behnen provided no explanation for this FFDE procedure to MORT at the time, or

afterwards when MORT emailed Behnen.
28.

Thereafter, Behnen went on leave and assigned Anthony Galetti (“Galetti”) as acting

Executive handling receipt of the additional requests for MORT's medical records, and placing

23

him on a forced Medical Administrative Leave over MORT's objection.

24

29.

25

relinquished his Agency assigned equipment needed for the performance of his duties as a postal

26

On Monday Sept 19, 2011, MORT met with Galetti in Fresno, California as ordered and

inspector.

27
28
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1

30.

On September 20, 2011, MORT filed a police report concerning Gadsden's admitted and

2

unlawful trespass.

3

31.

4

expenses relating to Behnen's orders for medical notes/documents before MORT could return to

5
6
7
8
9

On September 21, 2011, MORT applied for OWCP benefits to reimburse his out-of-pocket

his job duties, which OWCP denied.
32.

Receiving no assurances from Service management that Gadsden's conduct would be

investigated or any remedial action be taken, on September 27, 2019, Plaintiff filed another
police report against Gadsden for his ongoing harassing telephone calls while MORT was out on

10

leave.

11

33.

12
13
14
15

On September 29, 2011, MORT met with and was examined by his HMO doctor, who

completed the Agency FFDE paperwork provided by Behnen/Galetti along with an FMLA form
to satisfy the additional examination documentation, resulting in MORT being documented "Fit
for Duty".

16

34.

17

October 5, 2011, MORT obtained an ex parte restraining order against Gadsden issued by the

18

Superior Court of the state of California.

19
20
21
22

35.

Receiving no assurances that Gadsden would be stopped, and fearing for his safety, on

On October 7, 2011, Behnen referred a specious allegation of misconduct against MORT

to the OIG in retaliation for MORT's complaints of harassment by Gadsden, and after Gadsden
had admitted to the early-morning trespasses and pounding on doors and windows.

23

36.

24

Giblin and Stockton Inspector Jacob Gholson with notice that MORT had been medically

25

cleared by an unknown Agency doctor after reviewing the September 29, 2011 documentation.

26
27
28

On October 13, 2011, MORT was served at his residence in Fresno by Supervisor James

However, the notice, issued by Behnen stated that MORT would remain in an "Non Duty" status
pending the outcome of an OIG investigation into unspecified "Allegations of Misconduct".
6
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1

37.

In November, 2011, MORT requested and received Agency Employee Assistance

2

Program (EAP) information documents from Galetti detailing the program and confidential

3

nature of utilizing the EAP. The documentation indicated that EAP doctors are not to be used

4

in substantiating an FFDE and are not be used in securing or maintaining a Security Clearance.

5
6
7
8
9

38.

On November 10, 2011, MORT requested that the Service provide him with his 2011 Pay

for Performance annual performance evaluation from Galetti, who against policy and in
retaliation for MORT's protected activities willfully failed to provide.
39.

On November 16, 2011, MORT was interviewed by two OIG agents regarding the

10

specious allegations of misconduct referred by Behnen on October 7, 2011.

11

40.

12
13
14
15

In December 2011, MORT first met with his assigned and approved USPS-contracted

EAP Doctor: Jana Price-Sharps.
41.

On or about January 27, 2012, the USPS Office of Security advised MORT that his five

year updated to his “Top Secret” security clearance was due and investigative steps would be

16

forthcoming. As part of that process, MORT was interviewed by contracted Investigator Donald

17

Bengtson.

18

42.

19
20
21
22

Galetti wrongly asserted in an EEO affidavit—under penalty of perjury—that MORT was

not interviewed for his security clearance update.
43.

Bengston demanded to interview the EAP doctor or he would not be able to complete

MORT's security clearance update. EAP Clinical Psychologist Jana Price-Sharps met with the

23

investigator Bengston and cleared MORT as not being a threat to himself or others.

24

44.

25

Agents (recorded/transcribed) absent any question or concerns pertaining to any observed

26
27
28

On April 18, 2012, MORT was interviewed by two Office of Inspector General (“OIG”)

irrational/threatening behavior relating directly/indirectly to my job that could/would justify an
FFDE.
7
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1

45.

During the interview, MORT first made mention that he feared that Gadsden would

2

escalate the interaction similar to a shooting which had recently occurred in Los Angeles

3

Immigration and Customs Enforcement (“ICE”).

4

46.

5
6
7
8
9

During the interview, neither of the two OIG agents expressed any concern about MORT

comparing the potential of Gadsden erupting like the Los Angeles ICE incident, despite the fact
that OIG agents are trained and tasked in recognizing, investigating and referring threat
determinations and assessments to appropriate authorities.
47.

Galetti confirms his knowledge of this ICE shooting comparison in his July 2012 FFDE

10

request.

11

48.

12
13
14
15

On June 5, 2012, MORT met with Galetti and Los Angeles Supervisor Melissa Llosa

without any questions or concerns of irrational or threatening behavior on the part of MORT.
MORT requested, but was not provided any copy of the Report of Investigation that would
subsequently be used in part to terminate his employment, in violation of Service policy and

16

practice.

17

49.

18

Kevin Rho —alone—with orders to obtain a drug test, without any justification therefore. This

19
20
21
22

In about August 2012, MORT was served personally in Fresno, California by Inspector

action by Galetti, sending a single Inspector to serve MORT, demonstrates that Galetti did not
believe MORT to be a threat of any kind.
50.

On September 6, 2012 (a total of 142 days since making the statements comparing the ICE

23

shooting), MORT completed a FFDE in Fresno, California after USPS Doctor Bruce Dixon

24

submitted a letter dated August 30, 2012, stating he did not believe there would be any adverse

25

medical findings that would cause concern.

26
27
28
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1

51.

MORT was never advised that he was being examined because he had been viewed as a

2

threat to himself or others, nor was his ability to do his job ever in question since he had been

3

taken off work in September, 2011.

4

52.

5
6
7
8

On October 5, 2012, MORT spoke via phone with Galetti, who refused to identify any

specific legitimate reason to justify ordering MORT to undergo FFDEs, and stated only "You
filed an EEO".
53.

On October 11, 2012, MORT met with Agency contracted EAP Doctor Dr. Jana Sharps-

9

Price to discuss the order for MORT to undergo additional “Fitness for Duty” examinations and

10

to review USPS EAP coordinator Dr Steve Curran’s e-mail documenting his phone conversation

11

with USPIS medical personnel. A speaker phone call was made by her in MORT's presence with

12
13
14
15

USPIS doctor Bruce Dixon.
54.

Dr Dixon said USPIS Head Quarters bypassed the normal medical approval and

authorization and he only became aware of the exam orders two days prior. Dr Dixon confirmed

16

with Dr Sharps-Price that no mental or medical problems exist that would prevent MORT from

17

doing the job of a Postal Inspector.

18

55.

19
20
21
22

Dr. Dixon informed Price-Sharps that he would be calling USPIS HQ to stop the exams

from occurring because he was not of the opinion that they are needed in concurrence with Dr.
Price-Sharps.
56.

Dr Dixon also informed Price-Sharps that he (Dr Dixon) would have reacted more

23

aggressively than MORT had Gadsden done to him (Dr Dixon) what was done MORT.

24

57.

25

Garcia—alone—with orders to attend two additional FFDEs, without any justification therefore.

26
27
28

On October 12, 2012, MORT was served personally by acting Supervisor Francisco

This action by Galetti, sending a single supervisor to serve MORT, demonstrates that Galetti
did not believe MORT to be a threat of any kind.
9
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1

58.

Under duress, on October 17 and 18, 2012, MORT submitted to examination by two

2

separate doctors (located in Virginia and Washington, DC), under fear of being terminated if he

3

failed to do so. Throughout the examination process, MORT was never advised that he was

4

being examined because he had been viewed as a threat to himself or others, or that there was

5
6
7
8
9

any question as to his ability to do his job.
59.

On December 12, 2012, MORT was verbally ordered via phone to meet with Galetti and

Garcia at the USPIS Office located at 2601 E. Olive Ave, Fresno CA on Friday December 14,
2012, at 9:30am to be served with “papers”.

10

60.

11

exhibited any fear of MORT or made mention that MORT was ever a threat to himself or others.

12
13
14
15

61.

On December 14, 2012, MORT met personally with Galetti and Garcia and neither

On February 20, 2013, MORT met personally in Richmond, California with Galetti, and

attorneys James Rickher and Terrance McKeown for a mediation. No one at the mediation
exhibited any fear of MORT or made mention that that they feared that MORT was a threat to

16

himself or others.

17

62.

18

the Office of Inspector General; two police reports with the Fresno Police Department; and a

19
20
21
22

In the days and weeks following the incident, Mr. Mort filed two official complaints with

temporary restraining order against the supervisor alleged to have trespassed onto his property.
63. MORT did all he could to obtain redress for what he believed to be a violation of his
constitutionally protected rights. The combined effect of the incident and subsequent refusal to

23

act on the part of his supervisors caused Mr. Mort to suffer work related stress, for which he

24

requested stress leave.

25

64. Once Mr. Mort took time off for stress related to the incident and filed complaints with

26
27
28

outside agencies his supervisors responded by refusing to allow him to return to work and
initiated an investigation of their own into Mort's alleged misconduct.
10
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1

65. After being forced to remain out on administrative leave for over one year MORT was

2

terminated for alleged inaccuracies in a police report he filed related to Gadsden’s unlawful

3

trespassing into the secured privacy fenced back yard of his property. The termination was

4

retaliatory and unlawful.

5
6
7
8
9

66. MORT seeks equitable relief, including reinstatement, and monetary relief for the damages
he suffered as a result of the discrimination and retaliation he faced in the workplace.
67. MORT is also seeking damages for injuries he suffered because his supervisors perceived
him as being disabled, illegally held him out of work, and subsequently terminated him after he

10

made complaints related to his Gadsden’s trespass.

11

68. As a victim of discrimination, MORT is entitled to backpay for any salary, raises, and

12
13
14
15

fringe benefits he lost as a result of a employer's discriminatory conduct. MORT is entitled to a
backpay award that compensates him for the decreased earnings he suffered as a result of his
former employer's discrimination, which began on September 16, 2011, the date his supervisor

16

placed him on administrative leave and refused to allow him to return to work despite his

17

doctor's clearance to do so.

18

69. From September 12, 2011 until his March 14, 2013 termination, MORT's supervisors

19
20
21
22

precluded him from working and ultimately removed him because they perceived him to be
disabled based on an alleged, albeit mistaken, serious mental illness or infirmity.
70. Immediately after the Labor Day Weekend Incident MORT requested time off for stress

23

leave. Over the next several weeks MORT made a number of different reports: to the Fresno

24

Police Department; to obtain a restraining order; to his Congressman; and to the Office of

25

Inspector General. Mort testified that in a meeting with Behnen in the days following the

26

incident, Behnen himself directed Mort to file a police report.

27
28
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1

71. MORT was shocked, as being stripped of his badge and gun, had no physical protection

2

against the threat he reasonably believed that Gadsden presented.

3

72. MORT filed a complaint of harassment by Gadsden, who had invaded MORT's privacy

4

and trespassed on his property. In response, the Service—outside of ordinary policy—assigned

5
6
7
8
9

Inspector Nunez. Nunez was never given a copy of the the complaint of harassment made by
MORT, and made statements at the hearing before the Administrative Law Judge that were false
and misleading.
73. Claims of Harassment in the workplace are by policy investigated by the Harassment Team

10

out of Washington, D.C.. Here, Nunez was tapped on the shoulder by Galetti, and after

11

returning an investigation favorable to management, was promoted into that very management

12

from another office.

13

MORT IS CLEARED BY PHYSICIAN TO RETURN TO WORK

14
15

74.

On September 29, 2011 MORT's physician cleared him to return to work, and MORT

16

submitted the return to work authorization to management and Mort was notified on October 13,

17

2011 that the medical documentation that he provided was sufficient to establish his ability to

18

return to work.

19
20
21
22
23

75.

Despite complying with the medical documentation request, MORT was unlawfully kept

out of the workplace because he was perceived –albeit incorrectly—to have a disability that
precluded him from working as a Postal Inspector.
MORT'S SUPERVISORS INSTRUCT HIM TO FILE A POLICE REPORT BUT
REFUSE TO INVESTIGATE MORT'S COMPLAINTS REGARDING THE TRESPASS

24
25

76.

On September 6 and 16, 2011, MORT's Inspector in Charge, Behnen, refused to either

26

investigate the incident or take any corrective action against Gadsden stating Gadsden had done

27

nothing wrong.

28

12
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1

77.

When local management would not address the issue, and fearing for his safety, MORT

2

made complaints of harassment and discrimination, and sought civil restraining order to prevent

3

the conduct from occurring again.

4

78.

5
6
7
8
9

In the days and weeks following the incident, MORT filed two official complaints with the

Office of Inspector General; two police reports with the Fresno Police Department; and sought a
temporary restraining order against Gadsden.
79.

Throughout the one-year span while on administrative leave, and after multiple FFDEs,

MORT continued to request to be returned to work, was available to work, and reported to

10

Galetti on a daily basis as ordered in October 2011.

11

80. The Agency required Mort to provide additional medical documentation in order to be

12
13
14
15

cleared to return to work, which he provided on September 29, 2011.
81. Mort was notified on October 13, 2011 that the medical documentation that he provided
was sufficient to establish his ability to return to work.

16

82. Despite complying with the medical documentation request, Mort was illegally kept out of

17

the workplace because he was perceived to have a disability that precluded him from working as

18

a Postal Inspector.

19
20
21
22

83. On October 28, 2011, Mort engaged in further protected activity by filling an EEOC
complaint on October 28, 2011 and by repeatedly requesting that he be returned work.
84. MORT’s supervisors, Adam Behnen and Anthony Galetti, submitted EEO affidavits as a

23

part of the EEO investigation into Mr. Mort’s case. The affidavits contained material

24

misstatements and falsehoods.

25
26
27
28

ADAM BEHNEN INITIATES AN OIG INVESTIGATION OF MORT
85.

Rather than comply with the law, Adam Behnen initiated an OIG investigation of MORT

alleging MORT lacked candor in his reports against Madsen.
13
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1

86.

Galetti has admitted that USPS misused the Fitness For Duty examination process that

2

rather than terminate Mort right away they decided to send him to a Fitness For Duty

3

Examination because management didn’t know how long it would take to terminate MORT, not

4

for any possibility that MORT would ever be returned to duty.

5
6
7
8
9

87.

After being on administrative leave for over one year MORT was terminated for alleged

inaccuracies in a police report he filed related to Gadsden’s trespassing on his property. This
termination was clearly retaliatory and unlawful.
88.

When MORT asked Galetti why he was referring MORT to a second FFD, Galetti stated

10

“because you filed an EEO”, or words to that effect.

11

89.

12
13
14
15

Galetti claims to have analyzed his decision to terminate MORT's employment in light of

the Douglas factors; however, under oath, it was clear that the Douglas factors demonstrated that
the vast majority of factors weighed in favor of a lesser-level of discipline.
90.

Galetti admitted that (a) the alleged misconduct was not for gain,(b) was not malicious, (c),

16

there were no false statements in any documents filed by MORT, (d) that MORT had no prior

17

history of discipline.

18

91.

19
20
21
22
23

job level, (b) type of employment, (c) contacts with the public (d) prominence of the position.
92.

26
27
28

Galetti admitted that the following Douglas factors were either positive or neutral: (a) past

work record, (b) length of service, (c) performance appraisals, (d) ability to get along with fellow
workers, (e) dependability, (f) effect on his supervisor's confidence
EXHAUSTION OF ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES

24
25

Galetti admitted that none of the following Douglas factors were negative: (e) MORT's

93.

On October 26, 2011, MORT contacted Agency EEO counselor Arlene Gordon (within 40

days from the alleged EEO violation).
94.

On December 9, 2011, MORT formally filed the first EEO case.
14
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1

95.

On December 16, 2011, Agency EEO employee Brenda Thompkins dismissed MORT's

2

First EEO case.

3

96.

4

filed a timely appeal of the dismissal (within 20 days of dismissal).

5
6
7
8
9

97.

On February 10, 2012, the Agency received an OFO acknowledgement that MORT had

On May 29, 2012, the Agency received an OFO order ordering the Agency to conduct an

Investigation after the Agency inappropriately dismissed the case.
98.

On January 5, 2013, Agency EEO Investigator Brian Nederloe sent the EEO Investigative

file to MORT, which was received on January 9, 2013 (395 days since formal EEO case filed)1.

10

99.

11

MORT's timely request for a AJ hearing.

12
13
14
15

On February 7, 2013, EEO employee Christine Siegel Acknowledged receipt of the

100. On February 12, 2019, the EEO issued its decision in Appeal No. 0120172250.
101. On August 16-18, 2016, Administrative Judge Katherine Kruse held an evidentiary hearing
at the Federal Bankruptcy Court in Fresno, California.

16

102.

17

decision (1,524 days from hearing request, well over 4 years).

18

103. On June 12, 2017, MORT timely filed an appeal with the Equal Employment Opportunity

19
20
21
22
23

On April 11, 2017, the assigned EEO Administrative Judge Katherine Kruse issued her

Commission, pursuant to 29 C.F.R. § 1614.403(a), from the Agency's April 11 ,2017 final order.
104. On February 12, 2019, the Director of the Office of Federal Operations (“OFO”) issued a
final decision affirming USPS's final order, and issuing a right to sue, a true and correct copy of
which is attached hereto as Attachment “A”.

24
25
26
27
28

1 The Agency EEOC data (Inspection Service) for FY2012 - Present posted on-line
https://about.usps.com/who-we-are/no-fear-act/data/headquarters-inspection.htm remarkably
claims that zero (0) cases were processed in excess of the required 360 day investigative period.
See Management Directive 110 (MD-110), requiring the Agency to complete the investigation
within the earlier of 180 days after the filing of the last amendment or not later than 360 days
after the filing of the original formal complaint of discrimination.
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FIRST CLAIM
RETALIATION
TITLE VII

1
2
3
4

105.

MORT engaged in protected activity by filling an EEOC complaint on October 28, 2011

and by repeatedly requesting that he be returned work.

5
6

106.

A request to be returned to work with accommodations constitutes protected activity

7

under the ADA. MORT made multiple requests to return to work.

8

107.

9

cleared to return to work, which he provided on September 29, 2011. Mort was notified on

10
11
12
13

The Agency required Mort to provide additional medical documentation in order to be

October 13, 2011 that the medical documentation provided by Mort was sufficient to establish
his ability to return to work. Despite complying with the medical documentation request, Mort
was illegally kept out of the workplace for over year because he was perceived to have a

14

disability that precluded him from working as a Postal Inspector.

15

108. Mort's supervisors knew he was engaged in protected activity.

16

109.

17
18
19
20

Mr. Mort’s supervisors, Adam Behnen and Anthony Galetti, submitted EEO affidavits as

a part of the EEO investigation into Mr. Mort’s case.
110.

Although Mr. MORT provided the proper medical documentation, as requested by the

Agency, he was never allowed to return to work after the filing of his EEO complaint and

21

repeated requests to be reinstated.

22

111. Instead, Behnen initiated an OIG investigation against MORT.

23

112.

24
25
26
27
28

The Service further retaliated against MORT by failing to issue MORT a merit

performance evaluation. Policy requires a merit performance evaluation of all employees if the
employee works 60 days in any calendar year, which MORT did.
113. There is no legitimate business reason for failing to follow policy and provide MORT a
merit performance evaluation.
16
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1

114. The failure to provide MORT a merit performance evaluation caused him damage,

2

including the ability to progress through the merit system and achieve promotional increases in

3

pay and increased pension contributions, and to be eligible for further promotion into a grade 14

4

then 15 Inspector positions.

5
6
7
8
9

115. As a direct and proximate result of the retaliation, MORT has suffered long-term financial
damages, including loss of pay, seniority, benefits, leave, and other items in amounts to be
proven at trial.
116.

As a direct and proximate result of the retaliation, MORT has suffered severe emotional

10

distress, loss of enjoyment of life, and loss of future earning capacity in amounts to be proven at

11

trial.

12

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff has been damaged and prays judgment as set forth below.

13

SECOND CLAIM
DISABILITY DISCRIMINATION
(Americans with Disabilities Act )
(42 U.S.C. § 12112(a); 42 U.S.C. § 12102(1))

14
15
16

117.

As a second separate and distinct claim, Plaintiff alleges against Defendants as follows.

118.

The factual allegations of paragraphs 1 through 116 above are realleged as though fully

17
18
19

set forth herein.

20

119.

21

against a qualified individual with a disability." 42 U.S.C. § 12112(a).

22
23

120.

Under the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), an employer may not "discriminate

An individual is "disabled" under the ADA if he has "(A) a physical or mental

impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activities of such individual; (B) a

24
25

record of such an impairment; or (C) [is] regarded as having such an impairment." 42 U.S.C. §

26

12102(1).

27

121.

28

having a perceived impairment, and does not need to prove his perceived impairment would

Under the "regarded as" prong in (C), an individual must only show he was regarded as

17
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1

substantially limit a major life activity. Id. § 12102(3)(A).

2

122. An individual meets the requirement of 'being regarded as having such an impairment' if

3

the individual establishes that he or she has been subjected to an action prohibited under this Act

4

because of an actual or perceived physical or mental impairment whether or not the impairment

5
6
7
8
9

limits or is perceived to limit a major life activity." 42 U.S.C. § 12102(3).
123.

From September 12, 2011, until his March 14, 2013 termination, MORT's supervisors

precluded him from working and ultimately removed him because they perceived him to be
disabled based on a serious mental illness or infirmity.

10

124.

11

on his property over the Labor Day Weekend 2011.

12
13
14
15

125. Having been stripped of his badge and service weapon, MORT had no protection against a
supervisor who was willing to trespass into MORT's home and property at night, and neither the
Service nor any supervisor had recognized the privacy violation and the danger Gadsden posed.

16

126.

17

work.

18

127.

19
20
21
22

MORT initially took stress leave related to events surrounding his supervisor trespassing

Approximately one week after the incident MORT was cleared by his doctor to return to

However, MORT's supervisors still perceived him—albeit wrongly—as disabled and

MORT was removed from duty and never allowed to return.
128.

USPS required MORT to provide additional medical documentation in order to be cleared

to return to work, which he provided on September 29, 2011, and Mort was notified on October

23

13, 2011 that the medical documentation provided by Mort was sufficient to establish his ability

24

to return to work.

25

129.

26
27
28

Despite complying with the medical documentation request, Mort was illegally kept out

of the workplace for over year because he was perceived to have a disability that precluded him
from working as a Postal Inspector.
18
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1

130. Anthony Galetti, MORT's supervisor at the time, stated that he was concerned that MORT

2

may hurt himself or others based on unspecified statements that MORT had allegedly made.

3

131.

4

Fitness For Duty Examination because they didn’t know how long it would take to terminate

5
6
7
8

Galetti stated that rather than terminate MORT right away they decided to send him to a

MORT and were concerned that he would hurt himself or others in the meantime.
132.

During the timeframe MORT was kept out of work because he was perceived to have a

mental disability, MORT's supervisors initiated an OIG investigation of MORT, as alleged by

9

acting Inspector supervisor Jennifer Vincent-Hiland, that MORT had engaged in criminal

10

conduct in April 2011, and had allegedly making false statements in the police reports MORT

11

filed related to the Labor Day incident at his home. Those allegations were spurious, defamatory

12
13
14
15

and materially false.
133. On March 14, 2013 MORT was informed he would be fired. MORT was unlawfully
precluded from returning to work because his supervisors perceived him as being disabled due to

16

USPS's belief about MORT's mental health.

17

134.

18

Disabilities Act, MORT has suffered long-term financial damages, including loss of pay,

19
20
21
22

As a direct and proximate result of the termination in violation of the Americans With

seniority, benefits, leave, and other items in amounts to be proven at trial.
135.

As a direct and proximate result of the termination in violation of the Americans With

Disabilities Act, MORT has suffered severe emotional distress, loss of enjoyment of life, and

23

loss of future earning capacity in amounts to be proven at trial.

24

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff has been damaged and prays judgment as set forth below.\

25
26
27
28

THIRD CLAIM
VIOLATION OF THE REHABILITATION ACT
(29 U.S.C. §701, et. seq.)
136. As a third separate and distinct claim, Plaintiff alleges against Defendants as follows.
19
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1

137.

The factual allegations of paragraphs 1 through 135 above are realleged as though fully

2

set forth herein.

3

138.

4

a qualified individual with a disability."

5
6
7
8
9

Under the Rehabilitation Act (“ADA”), a federal employer may not "discriminate against

139. As pleaded above, Plaintiff was perceived by USPS and his supervisors as disabled.
140.

The Rehabilitation Act places certain limitations on an employer's ability to make

disability-related inquires or require medical examinations of employees only if it is job-related
and consistent with business necessity. 29 C.F.R. §§ 1630.13(b), 1630.14(c).

10

141. Generally, a disability-related inquiry or medical examination of an employee may be "job-

11

related and consistent with business necessity" when an employer "has a reasonable belief, based

12
13
14
15

on objective evidence, that: (1) an employee's ability to perform essential job functions will be
impaired by a medical condition; or (2) an employee will pose a direct threat due to a medical
condition."

16

142. "Direct threat" means a significant risk of substantial harm that cannot be eliminated or

17

reduced by reasonable accommodation. 29 C.F.R. § 1630.2(r).

18

143. It is the burden of the employer to show that its disability-related inquiries and requests for

19
20
21
22

examination are job-related and consistent with business necessity. USPS never even attempted
to justify the Fitness-for-duty examinations it ordered MORT to undergo.
144. USPS never made an individualized assessment of MORT that took into account: (1) the

23

duration of the risk; (2) the nature and severity of the potential harm; (3) the likelihood that the

24

potential harm will occur; and (4) the imminence of the potential harm.

25

Fitness-for-duty examination would have occurred.

26

Had it done so, no

145. USPS made the FFD order based merely on an employer's subjective evaluation.

27
28

20
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1

146. As a direct and proximate result of the termination in violation of the Rehabilitation Act,

2

MORT has suffered long-term financial damages, including loss of pay, seniority, benefits,

3

leave, and other items in amounts to be proven at trial.

4

147.

5
6
7
8
9

As a direct and proximate result of the termination in violation of the Rehabilitation Act,

MORT has suffered severe emotional distress, loss of enjoyment of life, and loss of future
earning capacity in amounts to be proven at trial.
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff has been damaged and prays judgment as set forth below.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF

10
11
12
13

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs prays for relief as follows:
1. For general damages in amounts according to proof and in no event in an amount
less than the jurisdictional limit of this Court;

14

2. For special damages in amounts according to proof;

15

3. For back pay and benefits;

16

4. For damages to future earning capacity;

17

5. For attorneys' fees as provided by law;

18

6. For interest as provided by law;

19

7. For costs of suit herein; and

20

8. For a mandatory injunction requiring Defendant USPS to (a) retroactive reinstate

21

Plaintiff in his former position in Fresno, (b) outside of the chain of command of

22

Nunez, Gadsden, Vincent-Hiland, Galetti, Behnen, Villanueva, Rickher and (c)

23

institute, maintain and report to the Court effective measures to train and monitor

24

USPS employees in the mandates of the Rehabilitation Act and the prohibitions

25

on discrimination, harassment, and retaliation; and

26

9. Such other and further relief as the Court deems fair and just.

27
28
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1

Dated: MAY __,
13 2019

SMITH PATTEN

2

/s/ Dow W. Patten
_____________________________
DOW W. PATTEN
Attorney for Plaintiff
THEODORE MORT

3
4
5
6

JURY DEMAND

7
8
9
10
10
11
11

Plaintiff hereby demands trial by jury of all matters so triable.

Dated: MAY 13
__, 2019

SMITH PATTEN
/s/ Dow W. Patten
_____________________________
DOW W. PATTEN
Attorney for Plaintiff
THEODORE MORT

12
12
13
13
14
14
15
15
16
16
17
17
18
18
19
19
20
20
21
21
22
22
23
23
24
24
25
25
26
26
27
27
28
28
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U.S. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION
Office of Federal Operations
P.O. Box 77960
Washington, DC 20013
Theodore W. Mort, a/k/a
MonroeM.,l
Complainant,

v.
\

Megan J. Brennan,
Postmaster General,
United States Postal Service
(Headquarters),
Agency.
Appeal No. 0120172250
Hearing Nos. 480-2013-00261X; 480-2014-00105X
Agency No. 66-000-0001-12; 66-000-0001-13
DECISION
On June 12, 2017, Complainant filed an appeal with the Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission (EEOC or Commission), pursuant to 29 C.F.R. § 1614.403(a), from the Agency's
April 11 ,2017 final order concerning his equal employment opportunity (EEO) complaint alleging
employment discrimination in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (Title VII), as
amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq. For the following reasons, the Commission AFFIRMS the
Agency's final order.
BACKGROUND
At the time of events giving rise to this complaint, Complainant worked as a Postal Inspector,
ISLE-13, at the Agency's facility in Fresno, California. Early in the morning of Sunday,
September 4, 2011, Fresno Police reported to the Agency's local postal inspector on duty (DO)
that they had arrested several mail theft suspects. DO attempted unsuccessfully to telephone
Complainant to arrange for him to interview the suspects in Fresno. Instead, DO contacted
Complainant's supervisor (SI) in Stockton, California. SI, together with DO, drove several hours
to Fresno to conduct the interviews, arriving in the early morning. They went to Complainant's

This case has been randomly assigned a pseudonym which will replace Complainant's name
when the decision is published to non-parties and the Commission's website.
1
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home and attempted to rouse him. S 1 knocked on the front door and a rear window of
Complainant's house. Receiving no response, they proceeded to their duty call with Fresno police.
Complainant, having been away from home for the Labor Day weekend, returned on September
6,2011. He learned from a neighbor that in the early morning two days earlier, a person whom
the neighbor described as a "strange black male" had entered Complainant's property and knocked
"very loud[ly]" on the windows and doors. Later that day, Complainant confronted S 1, who
admitted he had gone to Complainant's home to find him. Complainant responded that S 1's
conduct was unacceptable and constituted a trespass. Later that day, claiming "stress,"
Complainant went on sick leave.
In the following weeks, in response to S 1's visit to Complainant's home, Complainant took a series
of actions against S 1 including, filing a complaint with the Agency's Office of Inspector General
about the incident; making multiple reports about it to the Fresno Police Department; and filing a
motion in court for a temporary restraining order (TRO) against S 1. The TRO was granted, ex
parte, by the Superior Court of the State of California, but was later dismissed.
Meanwhile, when Complainant sought to return to work from his stress-induced sick leave, he was
placed on administrative leave until the Agency could determine the adequacy of the medical
documentation authorizing his return to work. Then, while on administrative leave, Complainant
was observed engaging in reportedly unusual behavior and made statements that, according to
Agency supervisors, called Complainant's ability to perform his duties into question. As a result,
Complainant was directed to submit to repeated fitness for duty examinations.
Complainant filed two formal complaints which, with later amendments, alleged ongoing
discriminatory harassment based on race (Caucasian), color (white), in reprisal for prior protected
EEO activity, and disability when:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

Management would not provide the Complainant with his merit performance
evaluation;
.
Complainant was placed on Administrative Leave;
Complainant was ordered to submit additional medical documentation to confirm
that he was able to return to work;
On October 10, 2011 Complainant was made aware other Inspectors failed to
respond to an incident and were not disciplined;
Complainant was interviewed by Office of Inspector General (OIG) agents;
Complainant was interviewed again by the OIG agents;
Complainant was informed that his security clearance investigation had been
suspended;
a supervisor refused to provide the Complainant with a copy of the OIG
Investigative Report;
Complainant was notified to report for a Fitness for Duty Exam;
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Complainant received orders to be examined by both a Ph.D. and an M.D. for
mental health issues and when he inquired about the orders, he was informed the
orders were justified because "you filed an EEO;"
Complainant was told that he would be fired if he did not drop his EEO case and
resign; and
Complainant was issued a Letter of Decision - Adverse Action Removal. 2

At the conclusion of the investigations, the Agency provided Complainant with copies of the
reports of investigation and notice of his right to request hearings before an Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission Administrative Judge (AJ). Complainant timely requested hearings. On
July 13, 2015, the AJ assigned to the matter consolidated the complaints. Prior to consolidating
the complaints, the AJ granted the Agency's motion and issued summary judgment in favor of the
Agency as to claim (9) on the basis of sex only. In addition, the AJ dismissed claim (4) for failure
to state a claim.
On August 5, 2015, the AJ granted the Agency's motion and issued a summary judgment in favor
of the Agency regarding claim (11). More specifically, the AJ found that Complainant failed to
rebut the Agency's articulated legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for its action. The Agency
explained that the comment alleged in claim (11) was made as a settlement proposal during
mediation.
The AJ held a hearing on August 16, 17, and 18,2016, and issued a decision on April 11,2017.
The Agency subsequently issued a final order implementing the AJ's decision finding that
Complainant failed to prove that the Agency subjected him to discrimination or reprisal as alleged.
The instant appeal followed.
CONTENTIONS ON APPEAL
On appeal, Complainant contends that the Agency should be sanctioned for its delay in completing
the investigation into his complaint. Further, Complainant challenges numerous Agency actions
and the AJ's handling of his complaints during the hearing phase. Complainant argues that the
AJ's decision is not supported by substantial evidence and that he has established that he was
subjected to discrimination and reprisal. Accordingly, Complainant requests that the Commission
reverse the final order and grant him the relief sought.
ANALYSIS AND FINDINGS
As an initial matter, the Commission will address Complainant's request for sanctions against the
Agency. Complainant contends that he is entitled to default judgment as a sanction for the
Agency's failure to timely complete the investigation in Agency No. 66-000-0001-12.

The Agency initially dismissed the complaint prior to its amendments. Complainant appealed
the dismissal and, in Complainant v. U.S. Postal Serv., EEOC Appeal No. 0120121286 (May 17,
2012), the Commission reversed the dismissal and remanded the complaint for further processing.
2
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Complainant did not raise any challenges to the Agency's delay in completing the investigation
while the matter was before the AJ. The Agency explains that the investigation was untimely by
approximately nine days and that this was accomplished despite the fact that the complaint was
exceedingly complex with multiple amendments and resulted in an investigative file comprising
over 1,000 pages of material. The Agency further notes that the completion and transmittal of the
file occurred during the December 2012 holiday season. The Commission finds that Complainant
has not presented any persuasive evidence that he was in any way prejudiced by the Agency's
delay in completing the investigation. Accordingly, the Commission declines to issue sanctions
against the Agency in the instant matter based on the circumstances present.
Next, the Commission notes that Complainant criticizes various aspects ofthe AJ's conduct of the
hearing in this matter (M. exclusion of evidence; limitation of cross-examination). None of the
points Complainant raises necessitates reversal here.
Administrative Judges have full
responsibility for the adjudication of the complaint, including overseeing the development of the
record, and have broad discretion in the conduct of hearings. 29 C.F.R. § 1614.109(a), (e). Given
the AJ's broad authority to regulate the conduct of a hearing, a party claiming that the AJ abused
his or her discretion faces a very high bar. Trina C. v. U.S. Postal Serv., EEOC Appeal No.
0120142617 (Sept. 13, 2016), citing Kenyatta S. v. Dep't of Justice, EEOC Appeal No.
0720150016 n.3 (June 2,2016) (responsibility for adjudicating complaints pursuant to 29 C.F.R.
§ 1614.l09(e) gives AJs wide latitude in directing terms, conduct, and course of administrative
hearings before EEOC). Here, the Commission finds that Complainant has not met his burden of
establishing that the AJ abused her discretion in this regard.

The AJ's Summary Judgment Decision - Claims (4), (9 - sex-based discrimination), and (11)
The Commission's regulations allow an AJ to grant summary judgment when he or she fmds that
there is no genuine issue ofinaterial fact. 29 C.F.R. § 1614.109(g). An issue of fact is "genuine"
if the evidence is such that a reasonable fact finder could find in favor of the nonmoving party.
Celotex v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322-23 (1986); Oliverv. Digital Equip. Corp., 846 F.2d 103,105
(1st Cir. 1988). A fact is "material" ifit has the potential to affect the outcome of the case.
To successfully oppose a summary judgment decision, a complainant must identify, with
specificity, facts in dispute either within the record or by producing further supporting evidence,
and must further establish that such facts are material under applicable law. Such a dispute would
indicate that a hearing is necessary to produce evidence to support a f1.nding that the agency was
motivated by discriminatory or retaliatory animus. Here, however, Complainant has failed to
establish such a dispute. Even construing any inferences raised by the undisputed facts in favor of
Complainant, a reasonable fact-finder could not find in Complainant's favor. Furthermore, as to
claim (4), we find that the AJ properly dismissed this claim for failure to state a claim as it merely
provides information regarding Complainant's other claims about comparators whom
Complainant asserts were treated more favorably.
Upon careful review of the AJ's summary judgment decisions as to claim (4), the sex-based portion
of claim (9), and (11) and the evidence of record, as well as the parties' arguments on appeal, we
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conclude that the AJ correctly determined that the preponderance of the evidence did not establish
that Complainant was discriminated or retaliated against by the Agency as alleged as to these
claims.

The AJ's Decision After a Hearing
Pursuant to 29 C.F.R. § 1614.405(a), all post-hearing factual findings by an AJ will be upheld if
supported by substantial evidence in the record. Substantial evidence is defined as "such relevant
evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." Universal
Camera Corp. v. Nat'l Labor Relations Bd., 340 U.S. 474, 477 (1951) (citation omitted). A finding
regarding whether or not discriminatory intent existed is a factual finding. See Pullman-Standard
Co. v. Swint, 456 U.S. 273, 293 (1982). An AJ's conclusions of law are subject to a de novo
standard of review, whether or not a hearing was held. An AJ's credibility determination based
on the demeanor of a witness or on the tone of voice of a witness will be accepted unless documents
or other objective evidence so contradicts the testimony or the testimony so lacks in credibility
that a reasonable fact fmder would not credit it. See EEOC Management Directive 110, Chapter
9, at § VLB. (Aug. 5,2015).

Claims (1), (2), and (12) (placed on Administrative Leave, Denied Evaluation, Removed)
To prevail in a disparate treatment claim such as this, Complainant must satisfy the three-part
evidentiary scheme fashioned by the Supreme Court in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411
U.S. 792 (1973). He must generally establish a prima facie case by demonstrating that he was
subjected to an adverse employment action under circumstances that would support an inference
of discrimination. Fumco Constr. Corp. v. Waters, 438 U.S. 567, 576 (1978). The prima facie
inquiry may be dispensed with where the Agency has articulated legitimate and nondiscriminatory
reasons for its conduct. See u.s. Postal Servo Bd. of Govemors V. Aikens, 460 U.S. 711, 713-17
(1983); Holley V. Dep't of Veterans Affairs, EEOC Request No. 05950842 (Nov. 13, 1997). To
ultimately prevail, Complainant must prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the Agency's
explanation is a pretext for discrimination. Reeves V. Sanderson Plumbing Prods., Inc., 530 U.S.
133 (2000); st. Mary's Honor Ctr. V. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502, 519 (1993); Tex. Dep't ofCmty. Affairs
V. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248, 256 (1981); Holley, supra; Pavelka V. Dep't of the Nayy, EEOC Request
No, 05950351 (Dec. 14, 1995).
According to the Agency, Complainant was removed from employment because he submitted
statements to the Fresno Police and to the Superior Court of the State of California that contained
false and misleading information about the circumstance of S l' s visit to Complainant's home on
September 4,2011 and Complainant's interactions with Sl after the event. For example, in those
statements, Complainant referred to S 1 committing armed "trespass" on his property but
misleadingly failed to explain that S 1 was present on the property in the performance of his official
duties as a Postal Inspector or that S 1 routinely carried a firearm while performing those duties.
This is a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the Agency's action. The AJ correctly concluded
that Complainant failed to show that the Agency's explanation for its decision to remove
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Complainant from employment was a pretext designed to conceal discriminatory or retaliatory
animus. AJ Decision at 23-24.
Also, according to the Agency, Complainant was placed on administrative leave, pursuant to
Agency procedures, because he was under investigation for an act that, if proven, could lead to his
removal from employment. Similarly, Complainant was not issued a performance evaluation,
consistent with Agency practice, because he was on administrative leave pending removal. These
are legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons for the Agency's actions. The AJ's conclusion that
Complainant did not show these explanations to be pretextual is supported by substantial evidence.
AJ Decision at 14, 20.
Claims (3), (9), (10) (Medical Inquiries and Examinations)
Employers are permitted to make inquiries concerning an employee's medical condition following
an absence from work under circumstances such as are involved here. See EEOC Enforcement
Guidance on Disability-Related Inquiries and Medical Examinations of Employees Under the
Americans with Disabilities Act (Jul. 27, 2000) Question 17.
A fitness for duty examination may be ordered only if it is job-related and consistent with business
necessity. See 29 C.F.R. §§ 1630.13(b), 1630.14(c). This means that the employer must have a
reasonable belief based on objective evidence that an employee will be unable to perform the
essential functions of his or her job or pose a direct threat because of a medical condition. EEOC
Enforcement Guidance on Disability-Related Inquiries, at Q.5. Objective evidence is reliable
information, either directly observed or provided by a credible third party, that an employee may
have or has a medical condition that will interfere with his ability to perform essential job functions
or will result in direct threat. Id. It is the burden of the employer to show that its disability-related
inquiries and requests for medical examination are job-related and consistent with business
necessity. See Cerge v. Dep't of Homeland Sec., EEOC Appeal No. 0120060363 (Oct. 9, 2007).
Here, the record evidence showed that at various times while Complainant was on administrative
leave in 2011 and 2012, he was observed to behave in a manner that witnesses characterized as
"argumentative," "incoherent," and "agitated." There was also evidence that Complainant
displayed an unusual level of interest in a recent wrongful shooting of a coworker by a federal
agent in Long Beach, California. The AJ correctly concluded that this evidence was sufficient
basis to support the Agency's decision to require Complainant to provide medical documentation
and to submit to fitness for duty examinations. AJ decision at 22-23.

Hostile Work Environment Harassment
To the extent that Complainant contends that the allegations of the complaint, including those not
specifically addressed above, establish a pattern of harassment, his position is not well taken.
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Harassment based on an individual's statutorily protected bases is actionable. See Meritor Savings
Bank FSB v. Vinson, 477 U.S. 57 (1986). In order to establish a claim of harassment, Complainant
must show that: (1) he belongs to the statutorily protected classes or engaged in prior EEO activity;
(2) he was subjected to unwelcome conduct related to his membership in those classes or his prior
EEO activity; (3) the harassment complained of was based on those classes or that activity; (4) the
harassment had the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with his work performance andlor
creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive work environment; and (5) there is a basis for
imputing liability to the employer. See Henson v. City of Dundee, 682 F.2d 897 (11 th Cir. 1982).
The foregoing discussion establishes that the complained of actions were undertaken for
legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons and were not based on any of Complainant's protected
classes. Accordingly, we find substantial record evidence supports the AJ's finding that
Complainant was not subjected to a discriminatory or retaliatory hostile work environment.
CONCLUSION
Based on a thorough review of the record and the contentions on appeal, including those not
specifically addressed herein, we AFFIRM the Agency's final order.
STATEMENT OF RIGHTS - ON APPEAL
RECONSIDERATION (M0617)
The Commission may, in its discretion, reconsider the decision in this case if the Complainant or
the Agency submits a written request containing arguments or evidence which tend to establish
that:
1.

The appellate decision involved a clearly erroneous interpretation of material fact or
law; or

2.

The appellate decision will have a substantial impact on the policies, practices, or
operations of the Agency.

Requests to reconsider, with supporting statement or brief, must be filed with the Office of Federal
Operations (OFO) within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt of this decision. A party shall have
twenty (20) calendar days of receipt of another party's timely request for reconsideration in
which to submit a brief or statement in opposition. See 29 C.F.R. § 1614.405; Equal Employment
Opportunity Management Directive for 29 C.F.R. Part 1614 (EEO MD-I10), at Chap. 9 § VII.B
(Aug. 5, 2015). All requests and arguments must be submitted to the Director, Office of Federal
Operations, Equal Employment Opportunity Commission. Complainant's request may be
submitted via regular mail to P.O. Box 77960, Washington, DC 20013, or by certified mail to 131
M Street, NE, Washington, DC 20507. In the absence of a legible postmark, the request to
reconsider shall be deemed timely filed ifit is received by mail within five days of the expiration
of the applicable filing period. See 29 C.F .R. § 1614.604. The agency's request must be submitted
in digital format via the EEOC's Federal Sector EEO Portal (FedSEP). See 29 C.F.R. §
1614.403(g). The request or opposition must also include proof of service on the other party.
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Failure to file within the time period will result in dismissal of your request for reconsideration as
untimely, unless extenuating circumstances prevented the timely filing of the request. Any
supporting documentation must be submitted with your request for reconsideration. The
Commission will consider requests for reconsideration filed after the deadline only in very limited
circumstances. See 29 C.F.R. § 1614.604(c).
COMPLAINANT'S RIGHT TO FILE A CIVIL ACTION (S0610)
You have the right to file a civil action in an appropriate United States District Court within ninety
(90) calendar days from the date that you receive this decision. If you file a civil action, you must
name as the defendant in the complaint the person who is the official Agency head or department
head, identifying that person by his or her full name and official title. Failure to do so may result
in the dismissal of your case in court. "Agency" or "department" means the national organization,
and not the local office, facility or department in which you work. If you file a request to reconsider
and also file a civil action, filing a civil action will terminate the administrative processing of
your complaint.
RIGHT TO REQUEST COUNSEL (Z0815)
If you want to file a civil action but cannot pay the fees, costs, or security to do so, you may request
permission from the court to proceed with the civil action without paying these fees or costs.
Similarly, if you cannot afford an attorney to represent you in the civil action, you may request the
court to appoint an attorney for you. You must submit the requests for waiver of court costs or
appointment of an attorney directly to the court, not the Commission. The court has the sole
discretion to grant or deny these types of requests. Such requests do not alter the time limits for
filing a civil action (please read the paragraph titled Complainant's Right to File a Civil Action for
the specific time limits).
FOR THE COMMISSION:

Office of Federal Operations
February 12,2019
Date
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recipients on the date below:
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Fresno, CA 93720
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